INTHE MATTER OF THE INOUIRIES ACT 2003

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INQUIRY RULES 2006

THE GRENFELL TOWER INQUIRY

CLOSING STATEMENT FOR MODULE 3 ON BEHALF OF

THE DEPARTMENT FOR LEVELLING UP, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES

INTRODUCTION

1. The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communitics' has followed with carc and
mnterest the evidence that has been heard in Module 3. The Department awaits the Inquiry’s
hindings and tinal recommendations, and sets out 10 these submssions a4 summary of the
evidence relevant to the questons that the Department highhghted 1 15 opening
submissions, and suggests conclusions that are open to the Inquiry on the basis of that

cvidence.

2. In Module 3 the Inquiry s considenng: ) residents’ complaints regarding tire safety risks,
doors and the quahty ot workmanship during the returbishment and the degree of
engagement and response ot the Tenant Management Orgamsation (ITMO) and the Roval
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) to those complants, it) the obhigations of the
TMO and RBKC under the Regulatory Retorm Order 2005 and their compliance with those
obligations, and ut} the active and passive fire satety measures inside Grentell Tower and

management of maintenance of the building.

Uhhe Munstry for Housing, Comunuanities and Local Government became the Department for Levelling Up,
Housimg and Communities on 19 Seprember 2021
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3. The Department’s opening statement” identified ton issucs which the Inquity may wish to
consider within Topic 1. Tlaving caretully considered the evidence heard durmg Module 3,
the Department submuts that the evidence the Inqury has heard would allow 1t to reach the

tollowing conclusions:

a)  Lhal the definilion of a ‘complaint’ adopied by the TMO was loo narrow, thal some complainis were
misleadingly dassificd as “engnivies” which affected the acenrale reporiing of complaints data, and thal

the LMOs complaints sysiem does nol appear to have been accessible or effective.

b} That the TMO anoht tfo bave treated complaints via councillors as complaints, onght to have been
willing to record @ complaint made by felephone as such, and onght fo have recopnised collective

complaints from residenis.

¢ That the TMO did accept responsibility for doing so, bul did not always efficlively discharge ils
sesponsbility. The process of linking up between lhe communily and conivactors does not appear lo

have been Fransparent.

d) That, as acknowledned in RBKC s Opening Submission, its monitoring of complaints submitted by
residents to the TMO was limited, the Complaints Key Performance Indicator (KPI), once if nas
used, way graniilalive (whether Siage 1 complaints were answered nathin a laygel vesponse time) and
so did mol capinre gualitative data, and thal mailers ‘resolved infivmally’ were nol recorded as
complaints. s such, the Tnquiry may conclade that neither the TMO nor RBKC were pathering the

necessary data to draw concusions and learn lessons from complaints.

e)  That there was liftle evidence of fraining, and that fhe evidence given by residents regarding the

{realment of complants suggests that staff were nof acting tn accordance with best praciice.

S That the high-level good practice gutdance on dispute vesolulion was nol followed by the TMO or
RBKC. The evidence of residents sugpesied thal e complainis process was nol laken serionsly

enouph, that there was insufficient transparency and scrufiny.

&) That there was a lon level of anderstanding or awareness of the TMO and RBKC complaints

process among resedents, and hal witnesses were mol abways aware of the different roles in the process

= hetps:/ fassets.grenfelltowermquiry.org.uk / CLGO0030831_MITCLG ¥%20-
Ye20Adodnuie Y a2083% 200  pening Va2 ubmissions.pdf and Annex

hittps:/ /assets grenfelltoweringuiry orguk /CLGOS030830_MEICLG%20-
Ya2(IModuic®s203% 200 pening Y205 ubrmss ions 242

SaZE Aenew.pdl
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between the TMO and RBKC. This fed to residents submitting complaints which were nof treated as
such by the TMO.

bl Uhat insnfficient steps were laken fo: i) publicise any processes available 1o suppor! vnlnerable
residents, i} provide information in other languages for residents whe did not read inglish (the offer
of transtalion being made in Englesh only), iti) ensure that those who could nol aceess ibe writlen

procedure weve able 1o record complainis i other ways.

1 That the Inguiry bas nol beard evidence thal Housing Ombudsman decisions were consistently

reported to the Board, or that the TMQ ensured it learnt from the Tlousing Ombudsman decisions.
MODULE 3 TOPIC 1
Possible conclusions

(1) Whether the TMO’s defirntion of a complaint was appropriate, and whether some

complaints were treated as ‘enquiries’.

4. The Inguiry may conclude that the definition of a ‘complaint’ adopted by the TMO nus too narron, that some
compplaints were misteadingly classified as ‘enquiries’ which affected the accstrate reporfing of complaints data,

and that the TMOs complaints system does not appear fo have been accessible or effective.

5. Nicola Bartholomew, TMO Neighbourhood Team Leader tor Lancaster West Estate, gave
evidence that where a resident attended the office in Lancaster West in person to make a
complaint, what happened would depend on the nature of the complaint.” If it related to
repairs, customer services could log it then and there. Other complaints may be referred to a
Housing Officer.' She gave evidence that whether a complaint was referred to the complaints

team depended on whether or not 1t was 4 “formal complaint™.” The process to make formal

* Nicola Bartholomew hittps:
[180/153]

* Nicola Bartholomew hitps:
[180/19]

* Nicola Bartholomew https://assets grenfelltowerdnguiry.orguk/documents/ transerpt /G TT%20-%20Dav%201 20 pdf
[181/11]
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. - 6 . -
complaints was through the website and there was a threce-stage process.” Complaints raised

1 person could be resolved quickly so didn’t need 4 formal complaint process.”

6. She gave evidence that complaints made by telephone to the othice at Tancaster West were

dealt with by the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system.”

She apreed it is possible that complants raised 10 person or by telephone were not passed
. 9 - .
onto the complants team.” [lowever, she could not say how often complaints may not have

10
been logged.”

8. Clare Willlams drew a distinction between complaints, and concerns or queries from
- 1 @ - : ‘ - e .

residents. She detined a complaint as “somcthing that could be multitaceted, it could be

serious and sort of orgamsational. It could be something that couldn’ be resolved quickly

and straightforwardly”."”

9. Counallor Judith Blakeman was referred by Counsel to concern expressed about ambipuaity
between a complaint and an enquiry. The witness responded: 1 don’t think T realised that

w13

they were treating some issucs as enquirics and others as complaints™.

10. Ividence was heard from a number of residents to the cttect that complaints they made were

not propetly dentified and registered as complaints. For example:

11. The evidence of Mahboubeh Jamalvatan was read into the record. She 15 disabled and walks
with a stick. She cannot get down the stairs and relics on taking the lift. She reported
problems with the htt not working to the TMO two or three times, but these complaints
were not recorded, according to her legal representatives, who checked the RBKC-TMO

Ilousing File. She was not given any advice on what to do 1o the event of a hire and on the

# Nicola Bartholomew hitps:/ fassets. grenfellowermguire.org.uk /documencs S cransenpt /AGTT%20-% 20D av% 2001 20.pd
[181/13]
" Nicola Bartholomew https:/ /assets. prenfallowermguire.org.uk /documencs /cransenpt /GTT%20-% 20D av% 201 20.pd
[181/21]
I Nicola Dartholomew hitps: [ fassets.oren felltoweringuiry.orgaulk fdocuments/ transcript/ GTT%20-%20Davw201 20.pd

|182/3]

? Nicola Bartholomew https:/Sassets grenfelltoweringquiry.org.uk/documents / teanseript /G 1T%20-%20Dav%%201 20.pdf
[182/12)

12 Nicola Bartholomew https:/ fassets.grenfelltowerinquiry. org.ul/documents /transcripe/ GTT%20-%20Dav %201 20, pdf
[182/17)

1= Claire Williams
httpsw"; assets.ore nr(]]tmurmqum orrak/documents/ transc rmt/Tmermt” 2027920 \Dr110’n2{)2f121 pdr [57/4]

12.¢ Lnre Williams
hittps:/assets. orenfelltoweringuiry.org.uk

:

documents/ transeript/'ranserpt2027%20A pril 4202021 .pdf [57 /13
12 judith Blakeman https://assets. orenfellrow ernguiry.org.uk/documents/transeript/ GITY20-%20D2v % 20155 pdf

[31/17]
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night of the tire had to cscape trom the bulldings by going down the stairs on her bottom.

N 14
She had to ‘bump” her way down.

12. Evidence from Maher Khoudair was also read 1into the record. Tle was resident in tlat 64, on
the 9™ floor. He had polio in both legs since carly childhood. His mobility issucs meant that it
was impracticable for him to use the stairs and so he was heavily reliant on the hfts. ITe was
not told what to do in the event of a fire and hke numerous other residents he said that he
“complained almost 20 limes aboud the lfis not working, bul nothing mas dowe” and that he was “weory
disappointed at hone T was treated” He complained to his MP, Victoria Borwick, who asked
people trom the TMO to listen to him. A man trom the TMO promised that “#e main entrance
would be opened afler two weeks, bul il was ve—opened afier (hree monibs onfy”, wiich caused preat

difficulty to the witness because of his disability."”

13. Lucy Ilo, whose evidence was read into the record explained that her mother spoke
Cantoncse and had only very limited Linglish, and therefore she and her sister would have to
make requests and complaints on her mother’s behalt. She said that although her sister made
a complaint on her mother’s behalt, her solicitors have not been able to find any record of
it

14. At the nme, the ITousing Ombudsman had in place dispute resolution principles: to be fair,
put things right and learn from outcomes’. The Ombudsman’s guidance included that “The
cufture of an orpamisation should ensure that complaints are seen as an opporfunity rather than a threaf”",
and gave detailed principles for a fair complaints system™. In July 2020, the Housing

Ombudsman published a new Complaint ITandling Code™.

¥ Mghboubeh Jamalvatan

hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/ documents/ transceipt/Uranseript2020%20 A pril%202021.pdf |43/5].
1% Maher Khoudair

https://assets grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk /documents /transeript “U'ranseript?2020%20April%4202021 . pdf |83/1] and
|84/21).

1% Tucy Ho hups:/ Fassets. grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk /documents / transcript/ Transcript% 202096 200Mav? 202021 pdf
|70/18).

" The Housing Ombudsman’s websice as ac % May 2017 v the National Archive:

hittps:/ S webarchive nationalarchives.gov.uk / ukewa /201 70509150330/ hittp:/ fwww housing-ombudsman.org.uk /

¥ hitps:/ Swebarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk fulgsea /2017053091 505348  heep:/ Swrwrw housing-
ombudsman.org.uk/learning-fags/ dispute-resolution-principles /cultuee /

" https:/ fwebarchive nationalarchives.gov.uk /ukgwa /20170509150551 hetp:/ /www. housing -
ombudsman.org.uk/learning-fags/ dispute-resolution-principles/ he-faie /

 hittps:/ Swww.housing-ombudsman.orguk/wp-contenc/uploads /2020/11/ Complainc-Handling-Code pdf
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(2) Whether the TMO imposed any inappropriate restrictions or thresholds on
matters it would consider as complaints, and the ability of residents to make

collective complaints.

15. The Ingairy may conclude that the TMQ oupht fo have freated compluints via comnecillors as complaints, oupht
in have beern nelling to record a compland made by felephone as such, and ought to have reeogrised collective

complaints from vesidenis.

16. Clare Williams’s evidence was that mn 2014 the TMO would not meet with Grenfell

Community Unite because they were already talking to the residents on a one-to-onc basis.

17. Councillor Judith Blakeman gave evidence that residents came to her to ask ftor help in
getting the Grenfell Compact recognised by the TMO). This request was retused by the TMO.
As a result, the residents went to the MP, Victoria Borwick, for help and she arranged a
meeting with them and the TMO. She explained that the TMO resisted recognising the
Grenfell Compact on the basis that they should have joined a residents” association.
However, she was not convinced by this justification because “this particular residents’

association was pretty moribund, and they tended to focus on arranging social events”.”

18. Peter Maddison of the TMO disagreed with Counsel to the Inqury “that the TMO had
actually, as a fact, refused to recognise a Grentell community group in respect ot the
refurbishment as at 31 March 2015, He gave evidence that that feedback from residents
showed that there was a lack of appetite for public meetings, so they ran intormal drop-in

; : . s a5
scsstons, which could be attended by individuals or groups and there was a newsletter.

19. David Collins, a resident and Chair of the Grentell Compact, complaned about the

reluctance of the TMO) 1o engage with residents. Ile said:

“we wanted lo be engaged av a group, and nol fo be kept apari or seharaled, wol Lo be able lo meel.

Remarkably, we neren’t able fo meet with the TMO or Rydon. e neren’t allowed, in their terms, ne

% 21
weren't allowed fo be a proup, to have a consultation, and that made no sense”.

* Judich Blakeman https: / fassets. prenfelleowennguiry.org.uk/documents/ transeripe/ GTT%20-%20Dav %201 35. pd f

[69/ 200

2 Peter Maddison heeps:/ fassets.grenfelloweringuirv.org.ulk /documenes / cransenpt/ GTT%20- %200 av %201 24 pdf
[29/31]

= Peter Maddison https:/ /assets.grenfelltowennguiry.orguk/documents/transcript/ GTTV20-%20Day %201 24, pdf [40/5]
2 Dhavid Collins

https:/ fasscts.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/ documents/ eranseript/ Transernpt%62019%620 A prl 46202021 .pdf 1135, 12].
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20. David Colling explaned that Grenicll Umite approached Pidgrim Tucker to write to Robert
Black on their behalt in a bid to get the TMO) to meet with Greatell Unite, Ile said they Felr it
necessary to take that step because “wo ane el wondd fvien o w5, Although no response was
received 2 mecting eventually took place between Grentell Unite and the TMO and Rydon
on 11 July 2015, although he did not recall why they eventually agreed to meet with them,

having previously retused.”™

21. Yousset Khalloud, a resident, explaned that residents started meenng during the
returbishment process because ot concerns they had. He said that the TMO would not attend
their mectings and the 'TMO only attended once the local MP attended and forced them to
attend. Ilowever, he was then satisfied that the TMO had responded to the concerns they

raised at the meeting.™

22. Edward Daffarn, resident and tounder of the Grentell Action Group, Grentell Commumty
Unite and the Grenfell Compact, expressed the view that it was a “wmplete and utter waste of
time” to go to the TMO with any complaints and that 18 why residents preterred to go to
Councillor Blakeman, or the Grenfell Compact with their complaints.” He gave evidence
about the refusal of the TMO to allow residents to torm a group to meet with them abour
the refurbishment. Ile conceded that by the end of December 2015, there had been several
such meetings between residents and the I'MO.* However, he felt that “emce we'd formed the

e

compact we were Kind of Freated even worse than before by the TMO”.

23. 'The evidence of Shahid Ahmed, a resident who founded the Grenfell T'ower eascholders
Association (GTLA) 1 2010, expressed his frustration with the TM(Ys lack of response to

the complants that he made on behalf of the GTLA. Ile explaned that:

T told everyone 1 conld ihink of regarding my concerny including RBKC Conneillors, Connetllors in
other areas who were part of the ‘tri —borough’ grouping, RBKC gfficers and TMO officers, and
even Victoria Borwick MP. Councitlor Marshall and even Judith Blakemay bad reservations abont

why 1 was sendeng these emails 1o so many reapienis. 1 was dotng so ont of frusiration, becanse if was

% Thid., [133/2].

28 Yousset Khalloud

https:/ /asscts.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/ documents/ eranseript/ Transenpt%62020%20 April%202021 . pdt

=7 Udward Daffarn

https:/ fasscts.grenfelltowerinquiry.orguk/ documents / transcripe/ Transerip 2021 %20 A pril % 20202 1.pdt [48/7].

= Udward Daffarm

hitps:/ Sassets greafelltoweringuiry. oz uk /documents S teanscript /T ranscripr2021%20 A prifs20202 1 pdf [220/8)] and
[221/1].
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abundantly dear to me that just emailing the TMO would do no good. T was alse concerned that the
TMO bad a free hand lo do whaiever they liked, so 1 war hoping Lo find someone who condd force

1250

Hhem fo lake aclion.

24. In responsc to a question posed by the Inguiry, the witness said that he was not asked to join
a residents” group or commifftee to represent residents” interest during the returbishment. Ile

felt that he was “Ueliberately exelnded” from the consultation process.”

(3) Whether the TMO took responsibility for complaints relating to work done by

COINractors.

25. The Tnguiry may conclude that the TMO did aceept responsibility for doing o, but did not alyays effectively
diseharge ils responsibilily. The process of linking up betiween the communily and coniraclors does nol appear

i have been fransparend.

26. Siobhan Rumble (TM()} Area Ilousing Manager for Lancaster West) gave evidence that
residents would usually contact Repairs Dircect themselves.™” If residents came to the TMO
with a complaint, for example that their heating was not working, T'MO) staft would then
contact Repairs Direct to ask what was happening.™ ‘They did not then monitor requests
made to Repairs Direct.” Ilowever, if the estate services assistants checked and became
aware the problem had not been resolved, this would be brought to her attention, and she
would act as the liaison to try and resolve the issue.”™ Her evidence was that whether the

. ) —
issues had been resolved would be checked at the next inspection.

B Shdh]d Alumned

119/1].

; weris LOrg, seript/lranseript®2022%20A pril%202021 . pdf |21/3].
= Sm 3hfm Rumble hittps:/ /assets. orenfe].l‘rmx erinquiry.org.uk /documents /transceipt /G TT%20-%20Day %201 20.pdf
[27/2]

3 Siobhan Rumble https:/ fassets.orenfelltoweringuiry.ore.uk/documents /transeript/ G LTV 20- %2000y Y0201 20.pdf
[27/3]

* Siobhan Rumble https:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.org.uk/documents Mtmnscript / GTT%20-%200ay %201 20.pdf
[27/21]

¥ Siobhan Rumble https:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.org.uk/documents ftrnscript / GTT%20-%20Day %201 20.pdf
127/3)

3 Siobhan Rumble https:/ fassets.orenfelltoweringquiry.oreuk/documents /transcript / G TTY20-%42000ay 201 20.pdf

[28/7)
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27. Claire Williams gave evidence that the 'TMO would deal with complaints that could not be

“straighttorwardly resolved” with Rydon whilst their RLOs were on site,”

28. Teresa Brown stated that she was aware of residents” concerns about the TMO's
management ot repairs. She explained that in responsce to a particular econail (shown to her by
Counsel to the Inquiry) the TMO and the author of the email conducted a walk about of the

. - ;;S
Tower identitying the author’s concerns.

29. Counsel to the Inquiry showed David Colling (resident and Chair of the Grenftell Compact) a
letter that was distributed to residents trom the councillors following the mecting between
the residents and the 'TMO on 11 July 2015, In the letter the councillors described how
Rydon were available to recerve complaints but that it was difficult to raise complaints with
the TMO and that the out of hours service was “¢ disaster”. It noted that residents had
reported litts that were not working, with no response, that the water had been turned ott,
without arrangements having been made for the attected houscholds. At the meeting, Mr
Maddison had apologised on behalt of the TMO. David Collins agreed that Rydon had
recerved complaints, but his view was that if there wasn’t also a will from the TMO), then

. . A0
Rydon “pould not tmplement a solulion’”.

n ; ’ ? 5 5 : ” s
30. Several witnesses (for example, Samuel Daniels™ and Bellal El Guenuni™) gave evidence

about problems they had with sclt-closing doors, which were not satistactorily reselved.

31. However, other residents were less scathing in theie views ot the TMO and their laison with

Rydon. For example, Shantilal Patel’s written cvidence included an example ot the TMO

¥ Claire Williams

https:/fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.orgulk/documents/ transeript / Transenpt %2027 %20 A pril % 202021 .pdf [56/7]
¥ Veresa Brown https:/ fassets grenfelltowerinquiry.org.uk/documents /transeript /Transeript%206%20May %202021 . pdf
[144/19].

¥ Dawnd Collins,

hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/ documents/ transcript/Uranseript?2019%20 April%202021 . pdf
[140/1].

# Samuel Daniels

https:/ fasscts.grenfeltoweringuiry.orguk/ documents / cranseripe/ Transerip (e 2020%20May% 20202 1.pdF
[92/11).

+ Bellal 11l Guenuii

hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy. org.uk/documents/ transeript /L ranseript%2020%20Mav?420202 1. pdf

[32/2].
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sceking to resolve an 1ssue regarding a resident’s windows and Rydon. Mr Patcl stated that

Rydon came around the next day afrer the witness contacted Claire Williams of the TMO.*#

(4) Whether the TMO and/or RBKC sufficiently monitored the handling of
complaints, including gathering qualitative as well as quantitative data and

considering lessons that could be learned from complaints.

32, 1he Inguiry may concude that, as acknowledoed in RBKCs Opening Submission, ity monitoring of
complainls submitied by residents to the TMO was fimited, the Complaints Key Pesformance Indicator (K1),
once It was Hsed, was quanfitative (whether Stage 1 complaints were answered nwithin a taret response tine)
and so did not captare qualitative data, and that matters ‘resolved informally’ nere not recorded as complaints.
LAs such, the Inguiry may conclude that weithe the TMO nor RBKC were gathering the necessary daia io

dran conelusions and learn lessons from complants.

33, Nicola Bartholomew could not say how otten tormal complamnts may not have been logged.
* Chire Williams gave cvidence that the complaints team could pick up complaints from the
CRM system and raise those with managers it they took the view that complaints were not
being adequately responded to."! Her evidence was that the complaints team monitored the
system, so unless they had the full information, they couldn’t monitor the complaint.” She
gave evidence that she would have recorded a complaint in CRM, “1f there had been anything

sald

that had come to [her] attention.”™ She did not record any of the complaints entered in the

matrices, not did she follow up on lidward Dattarn’s speech.

34. Teresa Brown, Dircctor of Housing at the 'TMO), also gave evidence about the CRM system.
Counsel to the Inquiry referred the witness to a munute from a meeting refernng to a
problem with complaints sometimes not getting a response for 70-100 davs. The witness
acknowledged that there had been 1ssues but explained that the TMO had mmplemented a

CRM process that logged and tracked complaints and sent reminders. Teresa Brown’s view

12 Shantilal Patel hetps:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuirv. orguk/documents/transeript/ Uranscript%2020%20May %4202021 . pdf
[Fo/18].

12 Nicola Bartholomew https:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry. org.uk/documents /transcripe/ GTT%20-%20Dav %201 20. pdf
[182/17)

# Claire Williams

https:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/documents / transeript/ Transerip %2027 %20 April % 20202 1.pdf [66/6]

# (laire Williamns

hittps:/Sassets. orenfelltoweringuiry.orgauk /documents /transcript /T ranscript?4 20279420 A pril Y 20202 1. pdf |66/15]

18 Claire Williams
https:/ /assets prenfelltowermguiry.orpauk /documents/ cranseript/ Transeript% 2027 %20 A pril %202021.pd f [59 /211
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was that there was a “solid process for monitoring and making sure people responded to

2 11 47
complaints”.

35. Counallor Judith Blakeman assisted the Grenfell Compact by producing matrices of
outstanding complaints, which the 1'MO or Rydon could respond to." She produced the
matnices with Mr Dattarn, Mr Thompson and Mr Colhns but in her view the complaints were

5 : s st . 9
retlective of the concerns of residents of Grenfell Tower more generally.”

36. Counallor Judith Blakeman gave evidence that if a complant was simple, and it could be

resolved, then it would be resolved, but it it wasn’t, like the matrices she submitted, it tended

aly

to be bland reassurances rather than active responses.”

37. That the data collected about complaints was quantitative rather than qualitanve was also ftelt

by residents of Grentell Tower. Notably, Edward Dattarn, smd:

“As far as 1 knom, the TMO wonld collect information abont the lime il look Lo respord fo complaints bud
there was no scrutiny over whether the complaints process was effective, whether the TMQ learnt from
complaints and whether complainants received proper disclosure of information relevant fo their conplaints

so there could be a level playing field between a complainant and the TMO,™

(5) Whether the TMO and/or RBKC ensured staff handling complaints at all levels
had appropriate training, and whether any staff had undertaken the Housing

Ombudsman’s training for Iandlords, or dispute resolution training.

38. The Inguiry may conclude that there was little evidence of fraining, and that the evidence given by residents

reparding the freatment of complaints suggests that staff were not acting in aceordance nith best practice.

39. In answer to questions from Counsel to the Inquiry Teresa Brown sad that she did not
ensure that statf were tramned in how to putsue or apply the complaints process. In her view

the staft dealt with complaints appropriately and so didn’t need any traiming, or additional

7 V'eresa Brown https:/ fassets.orenfelltoweringuiry.oreuk /documents /teanscript /U ranscript Y 206%0200May %4 202021 pdf
[139/23].

18 Judith Blakeman https:/ /assets.grenfelltowennguirv.org.uk/documents /transceipt /G TT%20-%20Dav %20 155 . pdf
[95/6]

# judith Blakeman https:
[95/23]

# Judith Blakeman https:
[31/12]

5 Ddward Daffam
https:/ fasscts.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/ documents/ transeript/ Transernpt %2021 %20 A pril%20202 1 .pdf [62/1].

¢/ documents/ transeript/ GITY20-Y2002v 20135 .pdf

¢/ documents/transeript/ GITY20-%20D2v 20155 . pdf
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training. She said that no concerns had been expressed dircetly about the adequacy with
which her staff manaped the complaints process.” She went on to say that she and her staff
were aware of the difterences betsween a service request and a complaint. She didn’t recall any
training, but her staff were fully awarc ot the distinction between complaints and service
requests. She did not recall any issues with complaints being misclassified as enquiries.” Peter
Maddison of the TMOY gave evidence that that he received traimng on how to discharge the

TMO’s obligations under the ITousing Act.™

4). The Inguiry may wish to consider the Housing Ombudsman’s records of e-learning
completed by landlords: they have contirmed to the Department that they do have records
dating back to fime of fire, and that no one idenitying as being from KCTMOY 15 recorded as
having completed their e-learmng (winch at the nme was raning on the dispute resolution

principles) before June 2017.%

(6) Whether the TMO and/or RBKC’s handling of complaints followed the Housing
Ombudsman’s high-level good practice guidance on dispute resolution; be fair — treat

people fairly and follow fair processes, put things right, and learn from outcomes.

A1, Orerall, the Inguivy may conclnde ibai the high-level good practice gnidance on dispuite resolntion nas nof
Jollowed by the TAMO or RBKC. The endence of residents suggested that the complainis process was wol (aken

serioisly enongh, that there was iusafficient transparency and scrufiny.

42. Judith Blakeman’s evidence was that the TMO) treated councillors and residents with disdain
. : G R = ;
and that 1ssues raised were treated as an exaggeration.™ A number ot residents gave evidence

about bemng spoken to rdely when registening complaints.

43, Emma (¥Connor, a disabled resident, explained that she visited the TMO’s website “consianidy

tn make complainis” and that she made telephone calls 1o complain as well as using the online

2 Teresa Brown heeps:/ fassets grenfelltoweringuiry.orgulk/ documents /transcripe/ Transeript¥206% 20Mav%202021 . pd £
|137/4].

# Teresa Brown hops:/ fassets grenfelltoweringuiry.orgulk/ documents /transcript/ Transeript¥206% 20Mav%6202021 . pd
157 /24]

¥ Peter Maddison heps:/ /wwrwe grenfelltoweringuirvorgaulk/heanngs ensington-chelsea-tenant-management-
orgaisation-evidence-28-apnl-2021 |129/1|

A lixhibit e mail {CLGOM35498 )
3 Judith Blakeman https://assets erenfelltowernguirv.ore.uk/documents/ teanseript/ G LT%20-%200av 7420135, pdf

[50/18]
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torm.” Howcever, she said that her complaints were not taken seriously and that she was

spoken to rudely.”

44. Edward Dattarn, explained that he was treated rudely by the TMO out ot hours statt, who
took his phone call, when he made a complaint about his neighbours” door having been left
open over the weekend by Rydon. Ie felr that he was also pootly treated by Peter Maddison
whom he emailed 1 turtherance ot the complaint and who he felt had accused lum of lying

£ h9
13 response,

45. Shahid Ahmed, a resident who founded the Grenfell Tower Ieascholders Association
(G1T.A) in 2010,% expressed cxasperation with the way in which he felt complaints were
recerved by the TMO. ITe explained that when he raised complaints on behalf of the GTLA
he was directed to the TMO’s complaints procedure, Towever, he “thought that the complainis
procedure was a way Jor the TMO (o be judge, jury and exeentioner. 1 essentially let them jude themselpes”"
Viurther, e complaints T made never achicved anything. That was nhy T repeatedly requested thar
Crrenfell Tower be subjected to an independent Tlealth and Safety revien in 2017 — becasse T did nof trust the
TMO fo revien themselves. Tt is also why T alpays emailed RBKC and TMO officers and Councillors”.* By
way of example, he smd that the GTLA complained about the litts breaking down on
numerous occasions, including in the period immediately preceding the fire.”” Another
example, he gave, was that he repeatedly complained over a number ot vears about not being
provided with a ‘l'enant’s Handbook. Although he reccived an initial response, he didn’t
recerve any subscquent response and was not provided with a ‘lenant’s Handbook. He
disagreed with Robert Black’s evidence that there was a Tenant’s [Tandbook at the nme of

the fire.®*

77 Emma O’Connor
hittps:/ fassets.erenfelltoweringuiry.ore.uk/docwments / transcript/ Uranscript¥h2020%20 A pril%4202021 .pdf
[106/9] and [118/14].
3 limma O’ Connor
https:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/documents/ transeript / Transenpt%2020%20 A pril %202021 . pd
[114/6].
3 Ddward Daffam
https:/ fasscts.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk /documents/ cranseript/ Transenpt®62021%20April%202021.pdt [160/16].
8¢ Shahid Ahmed
https:/fassets.prenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/documents/ eranseript/ Transerpt%2022%20 A pril%2020211.pdf [3/2].
5 Ihid., |4/ 14].
52 Thid., [4,/20].
63 Shahid Ahmed
' fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.org.uk
& Shahid Ahmed
https:/ /assets.prenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/documents/ cranseript / Transenpt®2022%20 A pril %202021. pd £

:

documents/transcript S ranscrpt 202294020 A prl 202021 .pdf [15/1].

hittps:
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46. Mr Ahmed also made complaints in relation to his own flat and he tound the TMO out of
hours service to be “anbelpful”. 11e would be told that it the problem was just wath ins fat,
then he would have to deal with it himself. ITe expressed the tollowing view of the TM(Ys
handling ot complaints: T goz fhe same response with regards to my onn flat as when T complained on
bebalf of GILA — the TMO nould reply late or not al all, pass me aronnd varions members of staff and
afien fonnd no ¢ffective solution. The real problem with Grenfell Tower was not the age or siale of e building,

it was the attitnde of RBKC and the TMO.™

47. Lorraine Beadle, a resident whose ovidence was read into the record and who tried to
complain about the tire escape route being blocked after the returbishment had started, said

that:

“as far ar 1 romember;, nobody from Rydon or the TMO called me back in response to my concerns
aboni lhe escape roule being blocked. 1 think this was awful. They did nol treal fire safely seriously
s an issue, and this exanple shows this. They did not deal with my concerns well af all on any level

— they just did not seem to care”

(7) Whether residents were provided with sufficient information abour the TMO's
own complaints system and the role and avaiability of the Housing Ombudsman by

the TMO and/or RBKC.

A8. The Tnquiry may conclude that there was a low level of understanding or awareness of the TMO and RBKC
complaints process among residents, and that witnesses were not alnays aware of the different roles in the
process between the TMQ and RBKC., This led to residents submitting complaints which were not treated s
such by the TMO.

49, Witnesses from the TMO) explained that the complaints process was pubhicised 1n the LINK
magazine, Teresa DBrown explaned that information about the complaints process was
provided to residents through the TMOYs website and in the Link magazine and there was
also information in the three receptions.” The evidence from residents is that whilst some

were aware of and read the LINK magazine, others were not aware of 1t and did not read 1t.

[15/23).

5% Shahid Ahmed
https:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuiry.org.uk/documents /transcript /Uranseript¥2022 %20 A pril %202021 .pdf |20/4].
% J.orraine Beadle
hittps: L
163/1].
67 'V'eresa Brown, https:/ fassets erenfelltoweringuirv.org.uk/documents/ teanscript/ Uransceipt™206% 200May %0202021 . pdf
[138/17).

¢/ documents/transcript “U'ranscript?2020%200Mav%202021. pdf
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lior example, Mustata Abdu did “#er remember ever bearing about TINK, despite talkeing to otbers... it
£ WG i 2 ¢ y :: % ;

seemmed wo one mas aware of .7 Gittara Pahlavani, who had hved in Grenfell since 1997,

explained in her written statement, that was read info the record, that she was vnaware of any

complaints process.”

50. A number of residents did give evidence that they were aware of and utihsed the complants
procedure published on the TMOYs website. Although, it is notable these witnesses

nevertheless expressed dissatistaction with the service that they recerved. For example:

51. Betty Kasote, a resident, explained that she made complaints to the 'TMO but she did not
receive a response. She explained that the TMOYs handling of complaints deteriorated over
time. It had been better when the TM() office was in the basement of the Grentell building
but when 1t moved to “somenhre central” the “tnieraciions with the TMO (nol just jor complainis)
became much worse.”” Regarding the TM(Ys complaints policy, the witness understood she

i - T
could put complaints in wating on the website.

52. Limma O’Connor explained that she visited the TMO’s website “wnstunthy to make complaints”
and that she made telephone calls to complain as well as using the online form.” However,

she said that her complaints were not taken senously.™

53. Councllor Tudith Blakeman explained that there was “huge confusion” about the complaints
process and “fuin anful lof of residents didu’t understand the TMO's complaints process at all, that’s why

7
they came to us”.

54. Lee Chapman, a resident and Sceretary of the Grenfell Tower leascholders Association,

expressed contusion about the TMO complaints system. Ile had thought that the complaints

5 Mustafa Abdu
hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/ documents/ transcedpt/LUranscript2020%20May%420202 L pdf
[38/3].
8 Gitiara Pahlavam
hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/documents/ transcript/Uranscripth2020%20Mav%20202 1.pdf |74/1].
 Betty Kasote hepsy/ fassets.grenfelltowerinquirv.orgauk/documents/ transeripe/ Transcript% 202024620 A pril%202021.pd F
129/16).
* Thid., [31/13].
2 limma (3’ Connor
https:/ fasscts.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/ documents/ cranscript/ Transenpt%2020%20 Apnl%202021. pdt
[106/9] and [118/14).
™ Ibid., |114/6).
* Judith Blakeman https://assets. erenfelltowernguirv.ore.uk/documents/ teanseript/ G LT%20-%200av %420 135, pdf

[53/14]
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procedure mvolved cither sending an email or making a telephone call o the TMO.T This
was how he had previously raised complunts, and so when he wanted 1o ruse a complaing
about the installation of gas pipes i the halways of Grenfell Tower, an escape route in the
cvent of a fire, this 1s how he did so. He had thought that by sending an email he was making
a “tormal complaint”.™ ITe explained, ‘1 think all of my emails 1 thought world be Lreated as a formal
complaint”.” It was only subsequently, that he learnt of the staged complaints procedure and
repistered and made stage 1 and stage 2 complaints about this issue.”™ Further, Mr Chapman
had not understood that the TMO and RBKC were separate entitics and that the RBKC had
a scparate complaints procedure.” However, he did understand that he could writc to his MP
to assist with making a complaint to the TMO, Tle sad 4 &nrer that by writing lo your focal MP
they conld exsentially attack i from another angle, if yon lke, but I wasn't — Dre never been enlirely sure

exactly what they can do””

n
n

. David Collins, a resident and Chair of the Grentell Compact (a representative residents’
group}, gave evidence that he was unaware of the 'TMOYs complaints process in March 2015
and that when he had written to 2 letter of complaint to Claire Williams, of the 'TMO), that
month, his expectation had been that it would be treated as a formal complaint.”" Further,
when Counsel to the Inquiry put to the witness an email from Peter Maddison to Counallor
Blakeman, in whuch the tormer had said that the TMO had a “very clear complaints policy and «
namber of residents who atfended the meeting on Saturday bave wsed it quite extensively”, David Collins
strenuously disagreed that the TMO had a very clear complaints policy. He said that he had
never seen 4 copy of the complaints policy, although he eventally became aware of its
existence, the TMO had never brought its complaints policy to his attention.” Iowever,
when the withess was shown a copy of the TMO / Ryvdon Grenfell Tower Regeneration

Newsletter from May 2016, which included information about the MO complaints process,

5 Lee Chapman

https:/fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry.orguk/documents / eranseript / Transerpt %201 9%20A pril%202021.pdf [35/20].
% Ihid., |75/2].

T Thid, [75/8].

™ Ihid, [82//15].

* Thad, [20,/20] and [36,/4].

5 Thid, [25/1).

B David Colling

hittps:/ fassets grenfelltoweringuisy.orguk /S docwunents sranseript S Uranserpt 75201 9%20 A pal%202021 . pdf [108,/720).
B2 Thigd., [142/8L
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including how to raise a complaint, he acknowledged that by May the complaints process was

3

set out but explained that by that point they had already raised numerous complaints.”®

56. Fdward Daftarn explamned how he understood and utihsed the TMO’s complaints procedure,
making stage 1 and stage 2 complaints and that he was aware that it was a 3-stage procedure.
Ile saw a complants policy document, although this was not until 2016, atter he had asked to
see 1t, when challenging the length of time he had been wainng for a response to a complaint
that he had made.™ Ile also understood that the TMO reported to the RBKC property
committee,” although he said T didn’t &non about the Tlomes and Communities Agency, which

4 i
actially was « bipher power we could bave gone fo”.

57. The evidence of Shahid Ahmed, 2 resident who founded the Grenfell Tower Leascholders
Agsociation (GTLA) in 2010, was read nto the record. ITe explained that when he raised
complaints on behalf ot the GTLA he was directed to the TM(Ys complaints procedure.
However, his evidence was that during his 25 years hiving in Grenfell Tower, he had never
been provided with a copy of the complaints procedure. urther, the difference between the

complaints procedure and a member’s enguiry was never explained to the G'11 o

(8) Whether the TMO and/or RBKC ensured vulnerable residents or those for whom
English was not therr first Ianguage were able to understand their rights and access

the complaints procedure.

58. The Tnquiry may conclude that insnfficient steps nere falen to i) publicise any processes available fo support
valnerable residents, i} provide information in other langnages for residents who did not read inglish (fhe offer
of translation being made in English only), i) ensure thal those who could nol access the writlen procedure

were able to record complainis in other ways.

% Ihid., |186/8].

5 Hdward Dattarn

hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/ documents/ transceipt/Uranscript™2021 %20 A pril%202021.pdf |60/7]1,
[63/20] and -64/6].

85 Hdward Daffarn,

https:/ fasscts.grenfelltoweringury.orguk/ documencs/ transeript/ Transernpt %2021 %20 A pril%20202 1.pdt [65/10].
8 Thid., |66/6].

57 Shahid Ahmed

https:/ S assets. erenfelltoweringuiry.ore.uk /documents /transcript “l'ranscript®2022%20 A pril%202021 . pdf

[4/4] and [3/3].
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59. David Noblc®™, the 'I'MOs Liquality & Diversity Officer, and subscquently Policy Advisor,
gave evidence that matenals from the TMO contained a “lransdation banne on the back saying “1f
you need this Lranslaled, contact ny and we'll iry and gef # done for yor’” . 1le could not recall any
requests for Link, the TMO’s magazine which contained intormation about the complaints
process, to be translated. Ilis evidence was that translation requests were not received very
otten. The box wndicating that documents could be translated was only printed 1n English,
despite David Noble’s evidence that he knew there were some residents who could not read

linglish.

60). Judith Blakeman cxplained that residents for whom lLinglish was not ther fiest language
would telephone with complaints, rather than put them in wnting. They would call her and
say that their complaint had not been dealt with and she would help by puthng them mn
writing.” The Grenfell Compact and other residents would also assist in making complaints

on behalf of such residents.™

61. A number of residents gave evidence about having ditticulty accessing intormation from the
TMO because all the information provided by the TMO was in Linglish and linglish was not
their first language. BExamples include: Maryam Yusuf Adam,” as well as Lucy Ilo, who
explained that her mother spoke Cantonese and had only very hmited English, theretore, she
and her sister would have to make requests and complaints on her mother’s behalf. However,
although her sister made a complaint on her mother’s behalt, her solicitors have not been

ot e 02
able to find any record of it

62. One witness, Wiliam Thompson, whose statement was read nto the record, gave evidence
about large numbers of residents attending residents” meetings regarding complants about

the refurbishment process. Ile was concerned that some older and vulnerable residents were

# David Noble https:/ fassets.grenfelltowerinquiry org.uk /documents /transceipt /U ranscept % 2022%20A peil%202021 . pdf
[92/4].

# Tudich Blakeman https: / fassets. prenfltowennguirv.orgak /docaments/ cranscript/ GTT%:20-%20Dav %201 35. pd
|103/1]

! Judich Blakeman https: / fassets. prenflliowennguirv.orgak /documents/ cranscript/ GTT%20-%20Dav %201 35. pd f
|103/21}

- Maryam Yusuf Adam

hittps:/ Sassets.grenfelltoweringuicy.org.uk/ documents/ transcript/Uranseripth2020%20 April%202021 . pdf

[81/13) (this was in relation to the “stay put” policy).

2 Lucy Lo, https:/ Sassets.grenfelltowerinquiry.org.uk /documents /teanscept/ Uransc eapt¥2020%20May 7202021 pdf
[70/3].
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concerned about the possible consequences of complaining to the 'T'MO and/or RBKC.” He

said:

"My impression living in the tower was that there were some residenis who became so nsed fo being
bullied by the TMOQ and RBKC that they just didu’t want fo rock the boat as they were afruid of
ihe consequences. 1 am not sayimg peaple were physically threatened bul people were afraid, especially
the old and vulnerable of which there were guite a few. Lhat is bow it &5 i social housing especially
when there 18 lols of bomedessiness anl there, many people do not mwant fo speak up against a landlord
because however bad things minht be they feel af least they have a home. T nsed to picture some of
these older and vunlnerable residents siffing in their homes with no water but scared fo compluin,

seared of the peaple who were supposed lo be looking afler them™”!

63, The evidence of a number of witnesses who were residents at Grenfell Tower and who were
disabled, or cared tor children or adults with disabalities, was read mnto the record during the
course of the Module 3 cvidence. Whilst some were able to access the complaints system and
reported positively of their experiences, others struggled to make complaints and did not tecl

supported by the TMO.

64. For example, Rosita Bomfacio and her husband were eldetly, and her husband suttered from
a disability. They had hved in Grentell Tower for 36 years. She said that % nas alays a struggle

10 pet them 1o respond to ney complaints, so T folf that there nwus no point poing to them for help.” "

65. As noted already above, imma (¥Connor, was a disabled resident who visited the "I'MOYs
website to make complaints and would also complain using the telephone but she felt that

. . 96
her complaints were not taken seriously and that she was spoken to rudely.

66. However, Corinne Jones, a resident whose son has mobility 1ssues as a result of Sjogren
syndrome, sad that she was able to report any problems with her tlat to the TMO through

their “repairs fne” and that she “did nof usnally bave any sipnificant issues with the TMO taking a long

2 William Thompson
hittps:/ fassets.grenfelltoweringuiry. org.uk/ documents /transcript/Uranscript¥2020%20Mav%20202 1.pdE |79/21].
* William Thompson

bittps:/ /assets :

¢/ documents/transcript/Uranseript¥2020%20Mav%20202 1.pdf |81 /16].

s Rosita Bonifacio
assets.erenfelltoweringuiry org.uk

Lo

hittps:
187/6).

“ limma O Connor,

hittps:/ fassets.prenfelltoweringuiry.orgulk/documents / transeript / Transernpt %20 20%20 A pril%202021.pd 114/ 6).

documents/transeript/ Transeript®%2020%20April%202021 .pdf |85/ 13] and
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e Fa get bark fn fber?”. She also retereed to Clare Williams, of the TMO, as someone who she

could contact about problems with the tlat.”

(9 Whether residents’ access to the Housing Ombudsman was fetiered by the TMO
and/or RBKC.

67, Lhe Inguiry may conclude from the above thal theve was nol a wide understanding of the wle of the Honsing

Ombudsman or the support they conld pravide lo residents with a complaind.

(10) Whether the Housing Ombudsman decisions were consistently reported to the
Board, and whether the TMO ensured it learnt from the Housing Ombudsman

decisions

O8. 1he Inguiry has not beard evidence addressing whelther Housing Ombudsman decisions were consistently

separied lo the Board, nor whether the TMO ensnred if learnd from the Housing Ombudsman decisions.
EVIDENCE OF RBKC

69. The Inquiry has heard some evidence trom RBKC witnesses regarding the pressures that the
Council was dealing with. "T'he cvidence of Amanda Johnson referred to the adverse impact
of wider 1ssucs as tactors attecting RBKC including: Right to Buy and receipts, dercgulation
of social housing; reduction 1 tunding tor local government, sale of high value void

. . . B . . B Q%
properties, and restrictions on borrowing to invest in housing” .

70. Insotar as RBKC suggests that these factors lead to any particular fatlures, the Department

notes that:

a} local authonty housing revenue accounts have long been rng tenced trom local
authonty general funds, so they are not aftected by wider government tunding
settlements, The selt-tmancing settlement of 2012 put local authonty housing revenue
accounts on 4 long-term sustainable footing by allowing them to keep and manage rental
revenue i return tor taking on responsibility for their share ot the historic debt incurred

on the housing.
p=

% Corinne Jongs,

hittps:/ /assets.grenfelltoweringuity org.uk/ docunents/ transcript  Uranscript%2020%20 A pril%202021 . pdf
[155/204.

% Ananda Johuson btps://assets grenfelitoweringuiry.org uk /S documents/ transeript / GLT520-

251, pdf |69
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by Bach sclf-financing scttlement was based upon the state of cach indeadual HRA and the
mtomation provided by the local avthority itselt and the stock archetypes held at the
pownt the selt-Ananang settlement took place. While standard assumptions were made
across and for all authoritics, the application 1 cach case will have depended upon the
archetype, age, state of repair, decency, local crime data etc. The reforms, winch

commenced work 1 2008 went live 11 2012, afrer very close consultation with the sector.

¢} There is no evidence to suggest that RBKC did not recerve an appropriate settlement in
2012, With (at that time} a stock level of 6,915 their property-holding was smaller than
average by about 30% (and the third smallest of the lLondon Boroughs, atter City of

London and Ilarrow).

d) At the pownt of the settlement, a cap was placed on the amount of borrowing that each
LA could finance through the IIRA. By the end of 2015-16 RBKC had reduced ity

borrowing levels and was reporting HRA borrowing headroom available to it ot £11.4m.

¢} Between 2012 and 2017 RBKC voluntarily returned unused RIB recoipts of f4.4m,
which could have been retained and uvsed for the one-for-one replacement of propertics

sold under the RTB.

t)  The policy on the sale of [ligh Value (vacant) Assets (IIVA) was never commenced and

had no cttect on any local authority.

71. RBKC accepted in their Opening Submission that they had a lack of oversight over the
TMO), that the number ot Council otficers devoted to monitoring the TMO was insutticient,
that RBKC could not identity an 1ssue if it was not identitied by the TMC) board, and that the
Counal tailed to follow various procedures winch it had agreed wath the TMO (regarding
reporfing on fraimng, the provision of management data, and the required complants

mecting).
The right to manage and the formation of ¢ TMO

R & i 0g 5 %
72. Since 1994, local authonty tenants have had a statutory right to manage™. By forming a
Tenant Management Organisation, they can take over responsibility tor managing housing

services, such as repairs, caretaking, and rent collection trom their landlord uvsing devolved

ag ¢ e 5 g 2 : ; 2, ;. o s PRSI
Pursuant to the Housing (Right: to Manage) {Lingland) Regulations 2012, made ender sections 27 and 27AB of the
Housimg Act 1985,

121}
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budgets from theie landlord. Tenant Management Organisations are models of commuruty
control that can improve service quality, secure better value for money, and boost
satistaction, Therr members are unpad volunteers who want to mmprove the quality of
people’s Lives by taking on more responsibility tor local services. Assuming the statutory
criteria are met, local authorities are obliged to enter into a Modular Management Agreement

(“MMA”) with the residents” TMO,

73. An individual MMA entered into by a Tenant Management Organisation and a Council will

consist of:

a) The non-optional clauses of the Medular Management Agreement

b} The opuonal clauses in the Modular Management Agreement chosen by the parties,
within the constraints specitied 10 the Modular Management Agreement

¢} Annexes

d) The Schedules referred to in the Modular Management Agreement and listed in the

Contents at the end ot cach Chapter, atter the list of the clauses constituting that Chapter.

74, RBKC’s Opening Submission suggests that the Modular Management Agreement (“MMA)
which governed the relationship between the Council and the TMC) was based on 4 template
“which had been approved and issued by the Government”, and that it was regarded as
trustrating and not considered in practice. However, the dratting ot the MMA 13 the
responsibility of the council and "I'MO/ATLMO. Had the Department been approached for
advice on the dratting of the MMA, RBKC and the TMO would have been directed to the
statutory puidance produced to assist couvnals and TMOs to dratt the schedules to their

. o
patticular agreements

ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE DEPARTMENT

75. The Department 15 currently taking or planning measures mtended to bring about the

tollowing:

fe AT IMANATE N t-GreAisations- \olume 1 The last statutory guicance was published in 2013, and in the Socal Housing
White Paper the Department has committed to review this gudance.

|22]
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a)  Improvements to complaings processes to onsure residents get speedier, more casidy
accessible etfective resolufion and redress, The professionalisation review will consder
the appropuate qualiticanons and standards for staft in ditterent roles (induding senior
statf) with 2 view to ensuring all staff act professionally, isten to their residents and at all

fimes treat them with courtesy and respect.
b} Measures to empower residents when engaging with or challenging landlords.

¢} Changes to the regulatory regime to drive up comphance with consumer standards and

strengthen landlord accountability.
d) Review the statutory Right to Manage guidance.

76. The Socal Tlousing White Paper — “The Charter tor Social Ilousing Residents” — was
published in November 2020™" and sets out changes which will improve the Lives of social
housing residents i England. The measures it sets out are the result of histeing to social
housing residents across the country about the changes that they want to sce. This includes:
concerns about safety and quality, complaints being handled badly, and residents not being

Listened to or treated with respect.

77. The package delivers a transtormation of social housing redress and of the regulatory regime,

creating proactive consumer regulation and rebalanang the relanonship between landlord and
tenant. 1t will ensure complaints are dealt with more quickly and fairly, improve the quality of

social homes and empower tenants.

78. The Department has started work on taking this torward. It has:

. . . - . § {2
a) Run a national campaign to raise awareness of how to make complaints'™,

by Carried out an evaluanon of the campaign and has discussed with stakeholders, including
renants' groups, what the next steps should be 1o hght of the evaluation findings. The
Department 1s considering the results of the evaluation as it now prepares for a tollow-up

campaigi.

¥ hittpas/ Sereews gov uk/govermment, publ
piper
H2 hitpsr/ /socathousingeomplaints.campaigapovr.uk/

s/ the-charter-for-sodad-housing-residents-social-housing-white-
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o} Introduced the Building Safety Bill which will ¢nsure that eesidents will be able to raisc
building satery concerns directly to the owners and managers ot buildings, who will have a
daty to listen to them, and thatif they feel concerns are bemng ignored, they can raise
them directly with the DBulding Satety Regulator. The Bill will also remove the
‘democratic tilter’ thereby ensuring that residents no longer have to walt eight weeks

betore formally seeking redress trom the Iousing Ombudsman.

d) Undertaken phase 1 of the review of the Decent Homes Standard, which includes
i 2 = 2 1033 i o

cstablishment of a sounding board of experts'™, secking to understand the case for

change to cateria within the Decent [Tomes Standard. The Department is now assessing

whether the case for change has been made.

¢ Committed to consult on clectrical safety in the socal rented sector and established a

. - O Ui
working group to mnform the consultation ™.

1) lLaunched a consultation on smoke and carbon moneoxide alarms. The Department is

2 106
balonvyy Elil?.ll}"fil_ﬂg responses I

g} DPublished the report of the Socal Sector (Building Safety) Engagement Best Practice

5 07 5 . : :
Group " the Government’s response will be published shortly.

79. The Housing Ombudsman has also implemented several ot the measurcs set out in the White

Paper:

a} It has increased the capacity ot 1ts service to deal with complaints more quickly and meet
its challenging targets to reduce its determmnation nmes in the context ot ncreasing

demand.

b) It has introduced a new Complaints Handling Code which landlords were required to

sclf-assess against by 31 December 2020.

103

https: /e pov.auk i guidance Jdecent-homes-standard-review

= hittpss/ S wwews gov.uk/government/ groups / electrical-safety-im-social-rented-homes-working-sroup
12 hitps:/ Swww.gov.uk/ government/ consultations / electrical -safe grn-the-private-rented-sector

1 hittpss/ Swewews gov.uk/government/ consultations / domestic-smoke-and-cathon-monoxide-alarms
¥ The Group: hipst/ Swww govouk/ government/ groups/social-sector-building-safety-engagement-best-practice-
group ‘Fhe Repoet: hittps:/ Dwwwgovuk/ govermnent/ poeblications /the -social-sector-huilding-safety-engage ment-

hest-practice-group-tingl-report
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o} The Ombudsman now publishes all induadual Tandlord complunts handling data, as well

dp Tr commenced quarterdy “Meet the OGmbudsman™ events and established a new Residents

Pancl.

¢} It appointed Adam Sampson, tormerly CEC) ot Shelrer and Cluet Legal Ombudsman, to
act as their Independent Reviewer, with responsibility for examining any complaints
about the Ombudsman’s service and making recommendations for change as

appropriate.
80. The Regulator ot Social Housing:

a} Ilas appoinfed a Director of Consumer Regulanon, Kate Dodsworth, who is leading the
Regulator’s work 1o prepare for 4 new proactive consumer regulation function, tollowing

the passage of legislanon.

b) Is actively taking forward work to develop the new Tenant Satistaction Measurces,

including carly engagement with the sector and tenants.

81. We are developing the legislative measures which are needed to implement the Charter for
Social Tlousing Residents, and are committed to legislanng as soon as practicable. The
Regulator ot Social Iousing 1s wotking closely with stakeholders on the development of the
revised consumer standards and framework and will consult formally on the noew standards

once the relevant legislation has been enacted.

82. The strengthened consumer regulatory regime will allow the regulator to proactively regulate
and drve landlord comphance with its consumer standards, underpinned by removing the
serious detnment test and introducing routine inspections for the largest landlords. Proactive
consutner regulanon means that there will be greater monitoring and oversight of landlord
performance. This will include on issucs around scrvice quality, ensuring tenants have
opportunitics to hold their landlords to account, and cnsuning that landlords are providing
wformation o tepants. As part of the new regime, fenant satistaction measures will be
wtroduced to help assess landlord performance on 1ssues hke repairs and complaints
handhng. The regulator’s enforcement powers will also be strengthened, to ensure it can

tackle fathng landlords when things go wrong,
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83. The Department s working to take torward all of the Whute Paper commutments, including
the professionahsation review wlich will consder the appropriste gushiications and
standards needed by housing statt o enable them to deliver the hiphest levels of service with

cmpathy and respect.

84. The Department notes that a national voice for tenants has been called for by tenant
organisations and that the Social Iousing Green Paper consultation found the majornty ot
responses telt that there is a need for a stronger representanon of residents at 4 national level,
As part ot the Social Housing White Paper package, the Department will review how tenant
scrutiny works best to ensure that residents are able to properly examine how their landlord
opetrates; and will develop a Resident Oppottunities and Empowerment programme, to
provide residents with support to engage effectively with therr landlord. There will be
ongoing mimsterial engagement with residents dunng the White Paper implementation
process; the Department will continue to listen to residents and enable them to have thetr
voices heard. The aim s to ensure residents are kept at the heart of tuture policy making and

can continue to shape soaal housing.
85. In addition, the Department:

a} Is reviewing the Iousing Iealth and Satety Ratng System (TITISRS), the risk assessment
tool used to assess hazardous conditions in all residential property and speaitically by
local authoritics when they entorce under the Housing Act 2004, The review 18 focusing
on making the system more accessible, developing minimuom standards for common
health and satery hazards and explonng digital solunons for inspecting  rented
properties'™.,

by Tlas brought the Electrical Satety Standards in the Prvate Rented Sector (England)
Regulations 2020 into torce for all private tenancies, which has put existing best practice
on a statutory footing. The Regulations require private landlords to have the clectrical
installations 1 their properties inspected and tested by a person who 13 qualfied and

competent, at least every 5 vears, and meet national standards tor electrical satery.

W2 hirtpss/ Swwwsgov ik govermnent publicasons Shousing -health-and-safety - rating-svstem-outcomes-of-the-
SCORIME-TETIew
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Landlords must provide a copy of the clectrical safety report to their tenants, and if

requested to their local :.mthoritymg

¢} Supported the TTomes (Fitness for TTuman Tlabitation} Act 2018, The aim of the Act is to
help drive up standards in rented homes in both the social and private sectors and
provide an alternative means tor tenants 1o seek redress from their landlord if their rented
property presents a risk ot harm to the health and safety of the occupiers. It does tlus by
empowering tenants to hold their landlord, including registered providers such as housing

associations, to account without having to rely on their local authority to do so'
CONCLUSION

86. The Inquiry has heard evidence from residents about the lack of leadersiup and a culture that
did not have residents as its focus. Many ot the themes of the evidence in this Module were
also present in the Social Ilousing Green Paper'"! consultations, where the Department heard
cvidence of a mixture of levels of awareness, and a range of practice on complaints handling

and cngagement.

87. In cvidence heard by the Inquiry, David Collins, who lived e Flat 185 trom April 2014 until
31 October 2016, said that in a4 meeting with the TMO and Rydon “Semeone in the meeting, one
of the supervivors, and be masw'l very sure of himsell, he said something which was a bil foolish, that we should
be grateful for nhat ne bave, rather than grumbling af problems that weren’t oirs or e shouldn’t worry about
things. {7 And be wasn’t very happy, be was angry, and there was a reaction.””™

85. The Department aims to ensure that residents in social housing are safe, hive in good quality
homes, and have access to redress when things go wrong, Rebalancing the relanonship
between landlords and tenants remains a key priorty. All tenants, whether i social housing

ot otherwise, should be treated with respect and couttesy.

89. The Department 18 committed to learning the lessons of the Grenfell tragedy which raised
critical questions tor evervone mnvolved 1 soaial housing. The White Paper 15 an important

step in addressing these issues, and the Department will continue to respond positively to the

T hitpss/ Swewews gov.uk/ governiment/ publications/ electrical-safety-standards-in-the-private-rented-sector-guidance-
for-landlords-enants-and-local-authoriacs

i hﬁp\ ;;\\ ww.gov.uk/gov ermnen‘r; publications/homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018

= vww. rov.uk Seovernment/ news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing

1.2 Dav 1d C O]J_Lm

hittps:/ fassets.prenfelltoweringuiry.orgulk/documents / transeript / Transerpt%2019%20 A prl %6202021 . pdf [132/12]
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recommendations of the Public Tngquiry. The Department remaing determined that the fegacy

of the Grenfell Tower tragedy will be lasung change and safer homes tor evervone,

90. The Department looks torward to the Tnquiry’s findings and final recommendations arising

from Module 3.

1 October 2021
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